IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 22-789

SCA EFiled: Jan 17 2023

03:27PM EST

Transaction ID 68906821

DANNY WEBB CONSTRUCTION CO. INC. and DANNY WEBB

Petitioners, Defendants below,

v.

NORTH HILLS GROUP, INC.

Respondent, Plaintiff below.

PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF

J. Zak Ritchie (WVSB # 11705)

Counsel of Record

Michael B. Hissam (WVSB #11526)

Andrew C. Robey (WVSB #12806)

HISSAM FORMAN DONOVAN RITCHIE PLLC

P.O. Box 3983

Charleston, WV 25339

(681) 265-3802 office

(304) 982-8056 fax

zritchie@hfdrlaw.com

mhissam@hfdrlaw.com

arobey@hfdrlaw.com

Counsel for Petitioners Danny Webb Construction Co. Inc and Danny Webb

INTRODUCTION
ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 12
STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT13
I. This Court has appellate jurisdiction
II. The standard of review14
III. The Circuit Court's order must be reversed because sufficient evidence supported the jury's verdict.
IV. Alternatively, even if this Court agrees that the jury's verdict was plainly contrary to the weight of the evidence, the Circuit Court still erred in granting a new trial because each of North Hills' claims fail as a matter of law
A. Plaintiff's claims are barred by res judicata
B. Plaintiff's claims are barred by the statute of limitations
C. Plaintiff's tort claims are barred by the gist of the action doctrine 30
D. A new trial on the unjust enrichment claim is precluded by a written agreement
E. The Lease did not create a fiduciary relationship
CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Bd. of Trustees of Leland Stanford Junior Univ. v. Agilent Techs., Inc.,
573 F. Supp. 3d 1371 (N.D. Cal. 2021)
Bianco v. Globus Med., Inc., 30 F. Supp. 3d 565 (E.D. Tex. 2014)
Blake v. Charleston Area Med. Ctr., Inc., 201 W.Va. 469, 498 S.E.2d 41 (1997) 26
Bronson v. Riffe, 148 W. Va. 362, 135 S.E.2d 244 (1964)
Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. v. Crystal Ridge Dev., Inc.,
239 W. Va. 549, 803 S.E.2d 519 (2017)
Foster v. Sakhai, 210 W.Va. 716, 559 S.E.2d 53 (2001)
Fredeking v. Tyler, 224 W. Va. 1, 680 S.E.2d 16 (2009)
Gaddy Eng'g Co. v. Bowles Rice McDavid Graff & Love, LLP,
231 W. Va. 577, 746 S.E. 2d 568 (2013)
Gulfport Energy Corp. v. Harbert Priv. Equity Partners, LP,
244 W. Va. 154, 851 S.E.2d 817 (2020)
Hirtle Callaghan Holdings, Inc. v. Thompson,
2022 WL 2048656 (E.D. Pa. June 7, 2022)
In re K & L Lakeland, Inc., 128 F.3d 203 (4th Cir. 1997)
Mahnke v. Washington Metro. Area Transit Auth.,
821 F. Supp. 2d 125 (D.D.C. 2011)
Napier v. Compton, 210 W. Va. 594, 558 S.E.2d 593 (2001)
Neely v. Belk Inc. 222 W. Va. 560, 668 S.E. 2d 189 (2008)

North Hills Group, Inc. v. Danny Webb and Danny Webb Construction, Inc., No. 16-
C-9 (Cir. Ct. Fayette Cnty.)
Rawers v. United States, 488 F. Supp. 3d 1059 (D.N.M. 2020)
Realmark Devs., Inc. v. Ranson, 208 W. Va. 717, 542 S.E.2d 880 (2000)24
Sanders v. Georgia-Pac. Corp., 159 W. Va. 621, 225 S.E.2d 218 (1976)
Smith v. Andreini, 223 W. Va. 605, 678 S.E.2d 858 (2009)
Smith v. Cross, 223 W. Va. 422, 675 S.E.2d 898 (2009)
State ex rel. Hoover v. Berger, 199 W.Va. 12, 483 S.E.2d 12 (1996)
State v. Farley, 192 W. Va. 247, 452 S.E.2d 50 (1994)
State v. Lilly, 194 W. Va. 595, 461 S.E.2d 101 (1995)
Tennant v. Marion Health Care Found., 194 W.Va. 97, 459 S.E.2d 374 (1995) 14
Walker v. Monongahela Power Co., 147 W. Va. 825, 131 S.E.2d 736 (1963)
Webb v. N. Hills Grp., Inc., 2017 WL 2493768 (W. Va. June 9, 2017) 6, 8, 26, 28
<u>Statutes</u>
W. Va. Code § 51–11–4
W. Va. Code § 55-2-12
Rules
W. Va. R. App. P. 19
Constitutions
W. Va. Const., art. III, § 13

INTRODUCTION

Because Plaintiff's claims are barred by res judicata and the statute of limitations, this case should never have made it to a jury. But it did, and the jury found for the Defendants on every claim. Dismayed by this result, Plaintiff requested—and Judge Blake awarded—another bite at the apple. Without the slightest bit of explanation or substantive analysis, the Circuit Court summarily concluded that the verdict was contrary to the clear weight of the evidence, vacated the jury verdict, and granted a new trial. This was a patent abuse of discretion. The Circuit Court's order must be reversed for two principal reasons. First, the jury's verdict is plainly supported by the record evidence. And second, a new trial is inappropriate given that each of the claims are barred as a matter of law in any event.

At the center of this long running dispute is an oil and gas lease between Plaintiff-Respondent North Hills Group, Inc. ("North Hills") and Defendant-Petitioner Danny Webb Construction Co., Inc. ("Webb Construction"). Because Webb Construction breached the terms of that lease, North Hills filed an earlier lawsuit for declaratory judgment in the Circuit Court of Fayette County (the "First Lawsuit"). After a two-day evidentiary hearing, Judge Blake entered a final order terminating the lease and ejecting Webb Construction from the property. On appeal of that order, this Court affirmed without remand. The First Lawsuit was over.

¹ This Court also reversed on a narrow issue not relevant here.

Fast forward to present. North Hills is now attempting to resurrect old claims under new names. It filed a new lawsuit—this one—in the Circuit Court of Fayette County, seeking compensatory damages arising from the same breaches that were the subject of the prior lawsuit (the "Second Lawsuit"). Though North Hills' latest claims are barred by res judicata and the statute of limitations, Judge Blake ignored these clear legal barriers and submitted the claims to a jury. And even though North Hills was given every practical advantage at trial, the jury nonetheless found for Defendants on each claim. But that verdict was short lived.

The Circuit Court's decision to disturb the jury's verdict was badly mistaken. North Hills failed to present—and the trial court failed to identify—any specific evidence that compelled a verdict in favor of North Hills so as to satisfy the demanding standard for rejecting the jury's decision. Though the Circuit Court recited North Hills' list of witnesses and exhibits, it failed to actually explain the import, if any, of that evidence. The Circuit Court's order is wholly devoid of any substantive analysis and completely overlooks evidence *supporting* the jury's verdict. Only by ignoring the evidence supporting the jury's verdict could the Circuit Court conclude that the jury's verdict was contrary to the clear weight of the evidence. The Circuit Court's order represents clear abuse of discretion, which this Court must correct.

For these reasons, this Court should reverse the Circuit Court's order and reinstate the jury's verdict.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. A jury found for Defendants on each of Plaintiff's claims. But the Circuit Court vacated the jury's verdict, concluding that the verdict was contrary to the clear weight of the evidence. Did the Circuit Court abuse its discretion in vacating the jury's verdict and granting a new trial?
- 2. The doctrine of res judicata precludes the relitigation of claims that were raised or could have been raised in a prior case. In the current case, Plaintiff seeks claims and remedies that could have been requested in the prior case. Did the Circuit Court err by granting a new trial on such claims?
- 3. Each of Plaintiff's tort claims—negligence, trespass, nuisance, and breach of fiduciary duty—are subject to a two-year limitations period. Though Plaintiff's claims accrued in Spring 2015 and were the subject of a separate lawsuit filed in January 2016, it did not file the present lawsuit until January 2019. Did the Circuit Court err by granting a new trial on such time-barred claims?
- 4. The "gist of the action" doctrine bars plaintiffs from pursuing tort claims for what are, in reality, disguised breach of contract claims. Each of Plaintiff's tort claims squarely arise from the contractual relationship between the parties. Did the Circuit Court err by granting a new trial on these claims?
- 5. Quasi-contract claims—like unjust enrichment—are unavailable when an express agreement exists because such claims only exist in absence of an agreement. Plaintiff and Defendant are parties to an oil and gas lease, from which Plaintiff's unjust enrichment claim arises. Did the Circuit Court err granting a new trial on the legally infirm claim for unjust enrichment?

6. The fiduciary duty is a duty to act for someone else's benefit, while subordinating one's personal interests to that of the other person. It is the highest standard of duty implied by law. Plaintiff and Defendant are counterparties to an oil and gas lease, from which Plaintiff's claimed breach of fiduciary duty claim supposedly arises. Did the Circuit Court err by granting a new trial on this claim where there was no basis to find the existence of a fiduciary duty?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Parties

Plaintiff North Hills Group, Inc. is a corporation with property holdings in Fayette County, West Virginia. App. 17. Defendant Danny Webb was, at all relevant times,² the sole owner of Defendant Danny Webb Construction Co., Inc., which operated underground injection control wells for the safe storage and disposal of wastewater generated from oil and gas development. *Id*.

The Deeded Property (Well 406)

At one point in time, North Hills owned two adjacent pieces of property: a 5-acre parcel and a 3,624-acre parcel, both located in Fayette County. App. 18. In November 2001, North Hills sold the 5-acre parcel to Webb Construction. *Id.* at 651-55. Among other things, the deed conveyed all the right, title, and interest to an unplugged and unproductive gas well that was located on the deeded property and identified as "Well 460." *Id.* Sometime thereafter, Webb Construction obtained the

² In May 2018, Mr. Webb sold his ownership interest in Webb Construction. Though Mr. Webb is no longer associated with Webb Construction, he continues to defend the company pursuant to an indemnity agreement.

necessary permit from the West Virginia Department of Environmental Protection ("DEP") and converted Well 460 into an underground injection control well for the storage and disposal of wastewater. *Id.* at 1171-1387.

The Leased Property (Well 508)

In April 2008, North Hills and Webb Construction executed an oil and gas lease (the "Lease"), granting Webb Construction the right to conduct defined oil and gas operations on North Hills' adjacent 3,624-acre parcel. App. 656-68. Relevant here, in the event any oil and gas well on the property was proven unproductive, Webb Construction was granted the right to inject salt water, or brine, into the depleted formations. *Id.* at 666. In such instances, Webb Construction was required to pay North Hills an annual injection fee of \$3,624. *Id.*

The Injection Well and Pipeline

Though North Hills disputed efforts of Webb Construction to rehabilitate the legacy well, Webb Construction deemed Well 508 unproductive. In September 2008, Webb Construction obtained the appropriate DEP permit and converted Well 508 into an underground injection control well for the storage and disposal of wastewater. App. 20. Sometime thereafter, Webb Construction laid a 2-inch diameter steel surface pipeline, connecting Well 508 (on the leased property) to Well 460 (on the deeded property). *Id.* This pipeline allowed Webb Construction to apportion wastewater, as necessary, between the two wells.

The County Commission Meetings

In November 2014, Ms. Hamilton, President of North Hills, attended a Fayette County Commission meeting where she learned that an injection control

well was operating in Fayette County. App. 328-29. Ms. Hamilton had been a vocal opponent of wastewater injection and so, in April 2015, Ms. Hamilton planned to attend and speak at a subsequent Fayette County Commission meeting.³ *Id.* at 328-30. Just a few days before this April 2015 meeting, however, Ms. Hamilton learned that Webb Construction was operating the injection control well on North Hills' property. *Id.* at 328-29; *see Webb v. N. Hills Grp., Inc.*, No. 16-0640, 2017 WL 2493768, at *3 (W. Va. June 9, 2017).

The Lease Termination

In July 2015, North Hills terminated the Lease, claiming that Webb Construction breached the Lease by injecting off-site wastewater into Well 508. App. 670-71. North Hills demanded that Webb Construction (i) cease all injection operations, (ii) remove the pipeline connecting Well 508 and Well 460, and (iii) remediate any contamination resulting from Webb Construction's injection operations. *Id.* Although North Hills had accepted and cashed annual injection payments in years prior, North Hills refunded the annual injection payment for 2015. *Id.*

The First Lawsuit (Civil Action No. 16-C-9)

In January 2016, North Hills filed a complaint in the Circuit Court of Fayette County, requesting that the Lease be terminated and that Defendants be enjoined

³ The Lease was negotiated by North Hills' former president, Philip Mooney. App. 1704-05. Over the years, management and control of the family-owned company was passed down to heirs who shared different values and environmental concerns.

from further operations on the leased property. See North Hills Group, Inc. v. Danny Webb and Danny Webb Construction, Inc., No. 16-C-9 (Cir. Ct. Fayette Cnty.) (Blake, J.) (the "First Lawsuit"). Notably, North Hills' lawsuit did not request compensatory damages for remediation or request that the pipeline be removed from the property. App. 1712-21.

After a two-day evidentiary hearing, by order dated June 7, 2016, Judge Blake declared the Lease terminated and enjoined any further operations by Defendants on the property—granting all the relief requested by North Hills in that action. App. 1722-35. Specifically, the Circuit Court found that Webb Construction breached the Lease by injecting fluids other than salt water and brine. See id. And though not pertinent to the breach of contract claim, the Circuit Court made several notable findings that would later bear on the statute of limitations analysis for future claims:

- "In 2015, Mr. Mooney [North Hills' former-president] learned for the first time that [Webb Construction] had injected frack fluid waste into the wells described in both the deed and lease." App. 1726.
- "Mr. Mooney's understanding came from conversations with current [North Hills] President Patricia Hamilton who learned of the frack fluid waste injection on the North Hills property after following-up on testimony she heard at a [April 2015] Fayette County Commission meeting." App. 1726.
- "Testing by researchers from Duke University clearly demonstrates that the chemical composition of the surface water directly downstream from [Webb Construction] operations is typical of oil and gas wastewater," observing elevated levels of "chloride, bromide, sodium, manganese, strontium and barium" downstream from the property. App. 1727. "Ms. Hamilton, as President of [North Hills], utilized this information to formulate her belief about what was being injected into [Well 508]." *Id.* at 1728.
- "The creation of a hydraulic fracturing waste site is a nuisance and interrupts the quiet and useful enjoyment of [North Hills'] property." App. 1733.

• "[Webb Construction's] creation of a hydraulic fracturing waste dump has the potential to create a liability situation for [North Hills] through potential contamination migration onto the properties of nearby landowners and adjacent streams of water." App. 1733.

Judge Blake repeatedly alluded to contamination of North Hills' property, but there was no evidence presented that Webb Construction actually contaminated the property or violated its DEP permit. *See Webb*, 2017 WL 2493768, at *7 ("There is no claim and no evidence that Webb Construction injected substances other than what the permit allowed.").

The Appeal of the First Lawsuit (Appeal No. 16-0640)

Defendants appealed the Circuit Court's final order and, in June 2017, this Court issued a memorandum decision affirming, in part, and reversing, in part. See Webb, 2017 WL 2493768. Albeit based on different reasoning, this Court affirmed the Circuit Court's order insofar as it deemed the Lease terminated. Id. The Circuit Court terminated the Lease based on Webb Construction's supposed breach, but this Court found that the Lease expired by its own terms. Id. at *6. Otherwise, this Court found that the Circuit Court committed clear error in piercing the corporate veil and holding Mr. Webb and Webb Construction jointly and severally liable to North Hills. Id. at *8 ("The circuit court's ruling appears to be perfunctory as no facts were referenced and there was no analysis pursuant to a fact-specific totality of the circumstances test" and "the record is essentially void of evidence supporting the piercing of the corporate veil."). The Court did not remand for further proceedings, and the First Lawsuit was over. See id.

The Second, and Current, Lawsuit (Civil Action No. 19-C-2)

Years later, on January 7, 2019, North Hills again filed suit against Webb Construction and Mr. Webb in the Circuit Court of Fayette County. App. 17-27. In this current lawsuit, North Hills rehashes the same allegations that Webb Construction exceeded the scope of the Lease by injecting fluids other than salt water and brine. See id. Rather than stating another claim for breach of contract, however, North Hills recasts its old claims, this time in tort and quasi-contract, alleging (i) negligence, (ii) trespass, (iii) nuisance, (iv) unjust enrichment, and (v) breach of fiduciary duty. See id. Because it did not seek such relief in the First Lawsuit, North Hills now seeks compensatory damages to remediate the property. See id.

The Trial

This case was tried to a jury on May 17 and 18, 2022. App. 2. At the close of North Hills' case-in-chief, Defendants moved for judgment as a matter of law. App. 526-32. Defendants argued that North Hills' claims were barred, for among other reasons, by res judicata and the statute of limitations. *See id.* Judge Blake summarily dispensed with Defendants' motion, offering a meandering and unreasoned explanation as to why res judicata and the statute of limitations did not apply. *Id.* at 538-42.⁴ But the Circuit Court went further. As far as liability was

⁴ For example, the Circuit Court seemed to agree that North Hills' claims first accrued in April 2015 when Mr. Hamilton learned of Webb Construction's injection operations and the supposed contamination resulting from same. App. 538. Yet, the court concluded that this lawsuit, which was filed nearly 4 years later, was

concerned, Judge Blake inexplicably granted judgment as a matter of law to *North Hills* on each of its claims. *Id.* at 542. Though he concluded that the claims were so different as to render res judicata inapplicable, the court reasoned that the First Lawsuit (which concerned a single breach of contract claim) was somehow legally dispositive of liability here (which concerns tort and quasi-contract claims). *Id.* All that was left, the Circuit Court decided, was for a jury to assess damages. *Id.*⁵

After the jury was instructed, it returned a verdict finding for Defendants on each of North Hills' five claims. App. 634-35.6 Thereafter, North Hills moved to set aside the verdict and for a new trial, arguing *only* that the verdict was contrary to the clear weight of the evidence. *Id.* at 29-35. In its motion, North Hills made no

not barred by the statute of limitations. *See id.* Also raising questions, the court concluded that res judicata was inapplicable because North Hills alleged "a separate claim" and this was "not the same case that was earlier decided." *Id.* at 539. Yet, in granting North Hills judgment as a matter of law, the court concluded that liability had been established in the First Lawsuit. *Id.* at 542. These rulings cannot possibly be reconciled.

⁵ At times, Judge Blake seemed to be acting under the badly mistaken impression that he was still presiding over the First Lawsuit—not a second, separate lawsuit. *See* App. 528 ("You know, all along you and Mr. Barney, I think, and Mr. Shepherd have talked about -- we got two lawsuits here. I don't think that's correct. I think we got one lawsuit. We've got 19C2 that's the lawsuit [referring to the First Lawsuit]. And then you gentlemen seem to be thinking that once the Supreme Court issued its opinion in this matter and remanded it back on this issue that they say that I didn't get right -- it still remains 19C2. I mean, it's an issue of damages now. I think liability has pretty much been established by the Supreme Court in this matter."); *see also id.* at 539 (Circuit Court again mistakenly claiming that he was presiding over the First Lawsuit, which this Court had remanded for further proceedings).

⁶ North Hills did not object to the jury instructions or verdict form. App. 567-69, 625 (noting agreement by both parties to the proposed jury instructions and verdict form.

complaints of any prejudicial error, misconduct, improper instructions, or improper jury verdict form. See id.

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