IN THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

**DANNY WEBB CONSTRUCTION, INC.
AND DANNY WEBB,**

**SCA EFiled: Mar 02 2023
04:52PM EST
Transaction ID 69261572**

Defendants Below, Petitioners,

v.

Supreme Court No. 22-789

Fayette Co. Civil Action No. 19-C-2

NORTH HILLS GROUP, INC.,

Plaintiff Below, Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

**Kevin W. Thompson, Esquire (W.Va. Bar No. 5062)
David R. Barney, Jr., Esquire (W.Va. Bar No. 7958)
Thompson Barney
2030 Kanawha Boulevard, East
Charleston, West Virginia 25311
Telephone: (304) 343-4401
Facsimile: (304) 343-4405
kwthompsonwv@gmail.com
drbarneywv@gmail.com**

I.

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

“While syllabus point three of *Asbestos Litigation* authorizes a trial court to weigh the evidence in the context of granting a new trial, such authorization does not obviate the essential role of the jury in resolving conflicting evidence.” *Shiel v. Ryu*, 203 W.Va. 40, 46, 506 S.E.2d 77, 83 (1998).

“When a case involving conflicting testimony and circumstances has been fairly tried, under proper instructions, the verdict of the jury will not be set aside unless plainly contrary to the weight of the evidence or without sufficient evidence to support it.” Syl. pt. 4, *Laslo v. Griffith*, 143 W.Va. 469, 102 S.E.2d 894 (1958).

In syllabus point five of *Orr v. Crowder*, this Court set forth the methodology for assessing a jury’s verdict:

In determining whether there is sufficient evidence to support a jury verdict the court should: (1) consider the evidence most favorable to the prevailing party; (2) assume that all conflicts in the evidence were resolved by the jury in favor of the prevailing party; (3) assume as proved all facts which the prevailing party's evidence tends to prove; and (4) give to the prevailing party the benefit of all favorable inferences which reasonably may be drawn from the facts proved.

Id., 173 W.Va. 335, 315 S.E.2d 593 (1983). *See also* *Dodrill v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 201

W.Va. 1, 11, 491 S.E.2d 1, 11 (1996).

Notwithstanding, as stated in syllabus point 4 of *Sanders v. Georgia-Pacific Corp.*:

Although the ruling of a trial court in granting or denying a motion for a new trial is entitled to great respect and weight, the trial court's ruling will be reversed on appeal when it is clear that the trial court has acted under some misapprehension of the law or the evidence.

Id., 159 W.Va. 621, 225 S.E.2d 218 (1976).³

An appellate court is more disposed to affirm the action of a trial court in granting a new trial "than when such action results in a final judgment denying a new trial." *Lamphere v. Consolidated Rail Corporation*, 210 W.Va. 303, 306, 557 S.E.2d 357, 360 (2001); *Adams v. Consolidated Rail Corp.*, 214 W.Va. 711, 714, 591 S.E.2d 269, 272 (2003) (*per curiam*).

VIII. ARGUMENT

1. The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in vacating the jury's verdict which was contrary to the clear weight of the evidence.

From the outset, the Circuit Court examined the evidence in a light most favorable to the Petitioners, assumed that all evidentiary conflicts were resolved in favor of the Petitioners,

³ *See also* Syl. pt. 1, *Matheny v. Fairmont General Hospital*, 212 W.Va. 740, 575 S.E.2d 350 (2002); *Lamphere v. Consolidated Rail Corporation*, 210 W.Va. 303, 306, 557 S.E.2d 357, 360 (2001); *Tennant v. Marion Health Care Found., Inc.*, 194 W.Va. 97, 106, 459 S.E.2d 374, 383 (1995); Syl. pt. 1, *Andrews v. Reynolds Memorial Hospital*, 201 W.Va. 624, 499 S.E.2d 846 (1997); Syl. pt. 1, *Brooks v. Harris*, 201 W.Va. 184, 495 S.E.2d 555 (1997); and Syl. pt. 2, *Witt v. Sleeth*, 198 W.Va. 398, 481 S.E.2d 189 (1996).

assumes as true all facts tended to be proven by the Petitioners' evidence and gave Petitioners the benefit of all favorable inferences which reasonably may be drawn from the facts proved. A.R. Pgs. 0002-10 (Order). The Circuit Court determined that the evidence presented in this case, as outlined above, was not sufficient to sustain the verdict returned by the jury and was "plainly contrary to the weight of the evidence or without sufficient evidence to support it." Syl. pt. 2, *Walker v. Monongahela Power Co.*, 147 W.Va. 825, 131 S.E.2d 736 (1963). *Id.*

The Circuit Court explained that during the trial, Respondent NHG adduced substantial evidence which indicated that the Defendants caused contamination on Plaintiff's property. *Id.* This evidence was not contradicted by or rebutted by the Petitioners. NHG also called Mr. Webb, Inspector Urban, former NHG President and attorney Philip Douglas Mooney, corporate representative and current NHG President Patricia Hamilton, former Plaintiff Vice-President Charles Flint, real estate appraiser J.D. Koontz, mineral estate appraiser Rachael Vass and remediation specialist Marc Glass as trial witnesses. This testimony was not contradicted by or rebutted by the Petitioners. Consequently, the clear and undisputed evidence was that NHG established its claims and that the Petitioners caused contamination on NHG's property and related damages to NHG, unbeknownst to it, directly related to the Petitioners' injection activities.

The Petitioners injected an unknown amount of substances from unknown sources into the 508 well. The Petitioners failed to keep any records about what was injected into the well and from where they obtained the substances. The evidence also established that the subject well could have been a production well, but Petitioners converted it into an injection well. Meanwhile, the Petitioners merely made the meager \$3,624.00 yearly payment to NHG, instead of natural gas production royalties, while using NHG's property for a substantial profit, but not

informing NHG of their injection activities. Thereafter, NHG's property was contaminated by the Petitioners' injection activities and needs remediation. The clear weight of the evidence indicated that the Petitioners were using NHG's property as a dump site.

The Circuit Court did not invade the province of the jury when it held that the verdict flies in the face of common sense and that the jury simply ignored the weight of the evidence. The evidence and testimony in the case were uncontroverted, as outlined herein, which conclusively proved Petitioners were responsible for the contamination on NHG's property. The Circuit Court did not weigh conflicting evidence because Petitioners did not introduce any evidence and did not rebut any of NHG's expert witnesses. After a careful analysis of the evidence and testimony, the Circuit Court concluded that there was insufficient evidence to support the verdict and the Circuit Court granted the Motion to set aside the verdict and grant a new trial. That was the correct decision and this Court should not disturb that decision.

2. The doctrine of *res judicata* does not apply in this case.

Res judicata or claim preclusion "generally applies when there is a final judgment on the merits which precludes the parties or their privies from relitigating the issues that were decided or the issues that could have been decided in the earlier action." *State v. Miller*, 194 W. Va. 3, 9, 459 S.E.2d 114, 120 (1995). This Court recognized in *Conley v. Spillers* that "the underlying purpose of the doctrine of *res judicata* was initially to prevent a person from being twice vexed for one and the same cause." *Id.*, 171 W. Va. 584, 588, 301 S.E.2d 216, 219 (1983). In *Conley*, this Court also observed the following additional rationale underlying the doctrine of *res judicata*:

To preclude parties from contesting matters that have had a full and fair opportunity to litigate protects their adversaries from the expense and vexation attending multiple lawsuits, claim preclusion serves to conserve judicial resources, and fosters reliance on

judicial action by minimizing the possibility of inconsistent decisions.

Id. (quoting *Montana v. United States*, 440 U.S. 147, 153-54, 99 S.Ct. 970, 973-74, 59 L.E.2d 210, 217 (1979)).

Accordingly, in *Blake v. Charleston Area Med. Ctr., Inc.*, this Court held:

Before the prosecution of a lawsuit may be barred on the basis of *res judicata*, three elements must be satisfied. First, there must have been a final adjudication on the merits in the prior action by a court having jurisdiction of the proceedings. Second, the two actions must involve either the same parties or persons in privity with those same parties. Third, the cause of action identified for resolution in the subsequent proceeding either must be identical to the cause of action determined in the prior action or must be such that it could have been resolved, had it been presented, in the prior action.

Id., Syl. pt. 4, 201 W. Va. 469, 498 S.E.2d 41 (1997). The third prong of this test is most often the focal point, since “the central inquiry on a plea of *res judicata* is whether the cause of action in the second suit is the same as the first suit.” *Conley*, 171 W. Va. at 588, 301 S.E.2d at 220. The Circuit Court determined that this case was not the same case as the prior Petition and denied Petitioners Motion to dismiss on this basis. This Court should deny this appeal because Petitioners cannot establish the necessary elements for application of the doctrine of *res judicata*.

a. There must have been a final adjudication on the merits in the prior action by a court having jurisdiction of the proceedings.

Respondent NHG does not dispute that there was a trial and appeal in the prior Petition. However, there was not a final adjudication on the merits of the claims asserted in this matter which prevents application of *res judicata*. Under these circumstances, rigidly enforcing *res judicata* would plainly defeat the ends of Justice. *Gentry v. Farruggia*, 132 W. Va. 809, 811, 53 S.E.2d 741, 742 (1949); *White v. SWCC*, 164 W. Va. 284, 291, 262 S.E.2d 752, 757 (1980).

Based upon the foregoing, Petitioners cannot establish the first prong of the *Blake res judicata* test which is fatal to the appeal; therefore, the Court should deny the appeal on this issue.

b. The two actions involving either the same parties or persons in privity with those same parties.

Respondent NHG does not dispute that the two actions involve the same parties in the prior Petition. Again, there was not a final adjudication on the merits of the claims asserted in this matter which prevents application of *res judicata*. Under these circumstances, rigidly enforcing *res judicata* would plainly defeat the ends of Justice. *Gentry*, 132 W. Va. at 811, 53 S.E.2d at 742; *White*, 164 W.Va. at 291, 262 S.E.2d at 757. Based upon the foregoing, Petitioners cannot establish the second prong of the *Blake res judicata* test which is fatal to the appeal; therefore, the Court should deny the appeal on this issue.

c. The cause of action identified for resolution in the subsequent proceeding either must be identical to the cause of action determined in the prior action or must be such that it could have been resolved, had it been presented, in the prior action.

In *White v. SWCC*, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals embraced the “*same-evidence*” approach for determining whether two claims should be deemed to be the same for purposes of claim preclusion:

For purposes of *res judicata*, a cause of action is the fact or facts which establish or give rise to a right of action, the existence of which affords a party a right to judicial relief. ... The test to determine if the issue or cause of action involved in the two suits is identical is to inquire whether the same evidence would support both actions or issues. ... If the two cases require substantially different evidence to sustain them, the second cannot be said to be the same cause of action and barred by *res judicata*. *Id.*, 164 W.Va. at 290, 262 S.E.2d at 756 (citations omitted); *Blake*, 201 W.Va. at 476, 498 S.E.2d at 48; and *Slider v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 210 W.Va. 476, 481, 557 S.E.2d 883, 888 (2001).

The issues previously decided by this Court are not identical to the one presented in the actions in question. As aforementioned, the prior claim concerned declaratory and injunctive relief regarding the termination of the subject Lease. Here, NHG alleged different claims being claims for trespass, nuisance, negligence, unjust enrichment and breach of fiduciary duties regarding Petitioners contamination of its property and related damages. These claims require substantially different evidence to sustain them. Thus, NHG's claims in this matter cannot be said to be the same cause of action as the prior Petition which prevents application of *res judicata*. The Circuit Court found this analysis determinative in denying Petitioners' Motion to dismiss on this issue. The Circuit Court did not err in denying Petitioners' Motion to dismiss on this issue. Based upon the foregoing, Petitioners cannot establish the third prong of the *Blake res judicata* test which is fatal to the appeal and the Court should deny the appeal regarding this issue.

3. Respondent's tort claims were not time-barred because of the discovery rule.

While West Virginia Code § 55-2-12 set a two (2) year statute of limitations for tort actions, the statute of limitations can be tolled by the discovery rule. *Perrine v. E.I. Du Pont De Nemours & Co.*, 225 W.Va. 482, 512-20, 694 S.E.2d 815, 845-53 (2010). With respect to the commencement of the statute of limitations period under the discovery rule, this Court has clarified that:

[i]n tort actions, unless there is a clear statutory prohibition to its application, under the discovery rule the statute of limitations begins to run when the plaintiff knows, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence, should know (1) that the plaintiff has been injured, (2) the identity of the entity who owed the plaintiff a duty to act with due care, and who may have engaged in conduct that breached that duty, and (3) that the conduct of that entity has a causal relation to the injury.

Syl. pt. 4, *Gaither v. City Hosp., Inc.*, 199 W.Va. 706, 487 S.E.2d 901 (1997). Elaborating on

Gaither, this Court has explained:

A five-step analysis should be applied to determine whether a cause of action is time-barred. First, the court should identify the applicable statute of limitation for each cause of action. Second, the court (or, if questions of material fact exist, the jury) should identify when the requisite elements of the cause of action occurred. Third, the discovery rule should be applied to determine when the statute of limitation began to run by determining when the plaintiff knew, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, of the elements of a possible cause of action, as set forth in Syllabus Point 4 of *Gaither v. City Hosp., Inc.*, 199 W.Va. 706, 487 S.E.2d 901 (1997). Fourth, if the plaintiff is not entitled to the benefit of the discovery rule, then determine whether the defendant fraudulently concealed facts that prevented the plaintiff from discovering or pursuing the cause of action. Whenever a plaintiff is able to show that the defendant fraudulently concealed facts which prevented the plaintiff from discovering or pursuing the potential cause of action, the statute of limitation is tolled. And fifth, the court or the jury should determine if the statute of limitation period was arrested by some other tolling doctrine. Only the first step is purely a question of law; the resolution of steps two through five will generally involve questions of material fact that will need to be resolved by the trier of fact.⁴

Syl. pt. 5, *Dunn v. Rockwell*, 225 W.Va. 43, 689 S.E.2d 255 (2009).

Moreover, the *Dunn* Court held:

Under the discovery rule set forth in Syllabus Point 4 of *Gaither v. City Hosp., Inc.*, 199 W.Va. 706, 487 S.E.2d 901 (1997), whether a plaintiff “knows of” or “discovered” a cause of action is an objective test. The plaintiff is charged with knowledge of the factual, rather than the legal, basis for the action. This objective test focuses upon whether a reasonable prudent person would have known, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, of the elements of a possible cause of action.

⁴ This Court has clearly established that the determination of when the plaintiff possessed the requisite knowledge to trigger the running of the statute of limitations is a question of fact for the jury. In this regard, this Court held that [w]here a cause of action is based on tort or on a claim of fraud, the statute of limitations does not begin to run until the injured person knows, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should know, of the nature of his injury, and determining that point in time is a question of fact to be answered by the jury. Syl. pt. 3, *Stemple v. Dobson*, 184 W.Va. 317, 400 S.E.2d 561 (1990). *Accord Gaither v. City Hosp., Inc.*, 199 W.Va. at 714-15, 487 S.E.2d at 909-10 (“In the great majority of cases, the issue of whether a claim is barred by the statute of limitations is a question of fact for the jury.” However, Petitioners did not submit this issue to the jury on the verdict form.

Syl. pt. 4, *Id.*

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